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Comes now Defendant Eddie Hamilton, Governor of the Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes 

("Governor Hamilton"),1 appearing specially, and asks the Court to impose sanctions on 

Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs' counsel based on the following: 

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

I. Introduction

This case has been brought by an individual (Plaintiff Jennifer Wilkinson 

("Wilkinson"), a/k/a Jennifer Plummer) who lacks the authority to bring it and who, 

together with Plaintiffs' counsel, is personally aware of false statements in the Complaint.  

Wilkinson and her counsel deliberately excluded references to relevant case law and 

legislative history from the Complaint because it defeats Plaintiffs' narrative.  Together, 

Wilkinson and her counsel have woven a fanciful claim of RICO violations among 

successive and often adversarial lawyers, firms, judges, and officials, for the stated 

improper purpose of impacting a tribal gubernatorial election.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs – 

and particularly Wilkinson – should be sanctioned along with their counsel. 

An attorney violates Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11 ("Rule 11")2 when he files 

a pleading filed for an improper purpose, or a pleading that contains claims or contentions 

1 Governor Hamilton does not waive any defenses or objections based on, inter alia, 
personal and subject matter jurisdiction or the sufficiency of the Complaint.
2 Consistent with Rule 11(c)(2), Defendant's counsel served Plaintiffs' counsel with a copy 
of this motion and supporting documentation on December 6, 2017.  See proof of service 
attached hereto as Exhibit A.  After being allowed the requisite 21 days, Plaintiffs and 
counsel have failed to withdraw or appropriately correct the contentions challenged herein. 
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not warranted by existing law or one that contains allegations that lack evidentiary support. 

Rule 11(b)(1)-(4).  Under Rule 11, "[t]he court may impose an appropriate sanction on any 

attorney, law firm, or party that violated [Rule 11(b)] or is responsible for the violation." 

Plaintiffs3 and their counsel should be sanctioned under Rule 11 for violating Rule 

11(b) in multiple respects.  First, Plaintiffs' factual contentions lack evidentiary support.  

Second, Plaintiffs' legal contentions4 and requested relief are not supported or warranted 

by existing law.  Third, Plaintiffs filed the Complaint for an improper purpose. 

Moreover, by signing and filing the Complaint, counsel has certified5 that to the best 

of his knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the 

circumstances, Plaintiffs' claims are warranted and supported by the evidence, and that the 

Complaint was not filed for an improper purpose.  In this case, Plaintiffs' counsel violated 

Rule 11(b) either by filing the Complaint despite being on notice of facts contrary to those 

alleged in the Complaint, by failing to conduct a reasonable inquiry, or both. 

Additionally, the Court should use its inherent authority to sanction Plaintiffs and, 

in particular, Wilkinson.  Wilkinson is the Tribal Council Coordinator.  Under tribal law, 

3 As an initial note, the Tribal Council is not a proper party under tribal law.  See Exhibit 
E, Wilkinson v. Hamilton, Case No. SC-2016-03, Opinion and Judgment, at 11 (Cheyenne 
and Arapaho S. Ct., June 16, 2017) ("The Government argues, and correctly so, that the 
Constitution does not grant the Tribal Council Coordinator the power to institute litigation 
on behalf of the Council.  The plain text empowers the Coordinator to file a suit in order to 
determine the proper holder of that office.  That's it.  In addition, it does not grant the 
Council authority to initiate litigation as a body either.")
4 Patently ridiculous is the notion that the Defendants – a blend of competing law firms and 
attorneys, as well as tribal judges and politicians with their own motivations and who rarely 
see eye-to-eye, could have successfully worked together for more than a decade to 
accomplish the evils ascribed to them.
5 The Complaint was also signed by Jennifer Wilkinson, one of the named Plaintiffs. 
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"The Coordinator of the Office of Tribal Council shall compile all approved laws and 

Resolutions within ten days of passage into a code which shall be published."  Constitution 

of the Cheyenne & Arapaho Tribes (Apr. 4, 2006) ("Constitution"), Art. V, § 4(c).  Because 

legislation disproving Plaintiffs' allegations was enacted during Wilkinson's term as Tribal 

Council Coordinator, Wilkinson is on actual notice that many of the Complaint's allegations 

are verifiably false.  More than that, Wilkinson was the unsuccessful plaintiff in various 

cases before the Tribes' courts that addressed issues identical to those raised here.  Thus, 

Wilkinson was in a unique position with direct access to documents that demonstrate the 

baselessness of her allegations, yet she ignored the facts and alleged provable falsehoods. 

The Court should act to deter similar future abusive and bad-faith conduct. 

II. Standard of Review

The standard for imposing Rule 11 sanctions is an objective one:  The Court must 

determine "whether a reasonable and competent attorney would believe in the merit of an 

argument."  Dodd Ins. Servs., Inc. v. Royal Ins. Co. of Am., 935 F.2d 1152, 1155 (10th Cir. 

1991) (citing White v. Gen. Motors Corp., 908 F.2d 675, 680 (10th Cir. 1990); Adamson v. 

Bowen, 855 F.2d 668, 673 (10th Cir. 1988)).  Objectiveness is paramount – an attorney's 

good faith belief in the merit of an argument is insufficient.  White, 908 F.2d at 680.  The 

subject of the analysis is the argument made, not necessarily the validity of the claim.  Id.  

Whether a competent attorney could have made a colorable claim given the same facts and 

law at issue is insufficient.  Id. (citing Calloway v. Marvel Entm't Grp., 854 F.2d 1452, 

1470 (2d Cir. 1988) (focusing on whether an objectively reasonable basis for claim was 

"was demonstrated"); see also Gaiardo v. Ethyl Corp. 835 F.2d 479, 482 (3d Cir. 1987)). 
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III. Nature of Sanction

Rule 11 sanctions are meant to (1) deter future litigation abuse; (2) punish present 

litigation abuse; (3) compensate victims of litigation abuse; and (4) streamline court 

dockets and facilitate case management.  White, 908 F.2d at 683.  Deterrence, though, is 

the primary goal.  Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 393 (1990).  Rule 11 

does not enumerate factors a court should consider in deciding the appropriate sanction for 

a Rule 11 violation.  See Rule 11 advisory committee's note (1993).  Rather, a trial court 

has broad discretion to choose the nature and the amount of the sanction to achieve the 

deterrent purposes of Rule 11.  See DiPaolo v. Moran, 407 F.3d 140, 146 (3d Cir. 2005). 

In the instant matter, monetary sanctions and injunctive sanctions enjoining 

Plaintiffs and their counsel from filing future litigation against Defendants are appropriate.  

While "[l]itigiousness alone will not support an injunction restricting filing activities . . . 

injunctions are proper where the litigant's abusive and lengthy history is properly set forth."  

Tripati v. Beaman, 878 F.2d 351, 353 (10th Cir. 1989). 

Plaintiff's continual attempts to relitigate his unsuccessful claims are highly 
disruptive.  Plaintiff may believe that a new judge will overlook the readily apparent 
similarity of each new complaint to its predecessors.  Alternatively, he may think 
that a judge will ignore the unanimous dismissals that have greeted plaintiff's actions 
and reject the sound notions on which those dismissals were based.  Either theory 
would be incorrect.  Instead, plaintiff's litigiousness forces the conclusion that he 
resorts to legal process regardless of the legitimacy of his claims . . . . 
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Sparrow v. Reynolds, 646 F. Supp. 834, 839 (D.D.C. 1986).  Most issues raised in the 

Complaint have already been adjudicated with results contrary to Plaintiffs' allegations.6  

Moreover, Plaintiffs7 and their counsel were on notice of some of these prior adjudications. 

Besides knowing that many of the Complaint's allegations were false, Plaintiffs and 

their counsel filed the Complaint primarily to harass and embarrass the defendants.  

Plaintiffs and their counsel should be sanctioned for this conduct. 

IV. The RICO Claim Is Not Warranted by Law. 

The RICO claim is not warranted by existing law, and counsel should know this 

because he successfully defended a client in a tribal RICO case almost identical to this one 

in 2013.  See Apache Tribe of Okla. v. Brown, 966 F. Supp. 2d 1188 (W.D. Okla. 2013) 

(Plaintiffs' counsel representing Defendant Redcorn).  The plaintiff in Apache alleged, inter 

alia, a civil RICO claim against an opposing tribal faction.  Id. at 1191.  Ultimately, the 

court found Plaintiff failed to state an actionable RICO claim and granted the motion to 

dismiss in favor of counsel's client under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  Id. at 1198.  The court 

further noted that it "would have grave concerns about involving federal courts in what 

appears to be an internal tribal dispute, as argued by [counsel]."  Id. at 1198 n.9 (emphasis 

added). 

A plaintiff bringing a RICO claim must allege "(l) investment in, control of, or 

conduct of (2) an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of racketeering activity."  Tal v. Hogan, 

                                                           
6 See attached Exhibit B. 
7 Most, but not all, of the prior adjudications, did not involve any of the named Plaintiffs.  
Nevertheless, Plaintiffs have raised issues that have already been successfully defended by 
Governor Hamilton and other defendants in other cases. 
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453 F.3d 1244, 1261 (10th Cir. 2006) (citing 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a), (b) & (c)).  As an 

essential element to the RICO claim, a plaintiff must also show he has "been injured in his 

business or property by the conduct constituting the violation."  Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex 

Co., 473 U.S. 479, 496 (1985).  "[A] plaintiff cannot recover for emotional, personal, or 

speculative future injuries under §1964(c)."  Safe Streets All. v. Hickenlooper, 859 F.3d 

865, 888-89 (10th Cir. 2017).  The plaintiff must be the "direct victim" of the alleged RICO 

violation, and is unable to recover for harm caused by a set of actions distinct from the 

alleged RICO violation.  Anza v. Ideal Steel Supply Corp., 547 U.S. 451, 457-58 (2006).  

Additionally, the heightened pleading standard of Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) ("Rule 9") requires 

the plaintiff to "state with particularity the circumstances constituting fraud."  When a 

RICO claim is based on fraud, Rule 9 requires that the complaint "set forth the time, place, 

and contents of the false representation, the identity of the party making the false statements 

and the consequences thereof," as well as "identify the purpose of the mailing within the 

defendant's fraudulent scheme."  Tal, 453 F.3d at 1263 (citations omitted). 

Plaintiffs' counsel has notice of the pleading requirements of a civil RICO suit 

because he successfully based a dismissal motion on these requirements only a few years 

ago.  Nevertheless, counsel filed the Complaint herein despite the fact that the allegations 

it contained did not satisfy the Plaintiffs' burden of pleading. 

A. "Conduct" of an "Enterprise"

"To establish that a defendant conducted the affairs of an enterprise, a plaintiff must 

show the defendant 'participated in the operation or management of the enterprise,' which 

means the defendant had 'some part in directing the enterprise's affairs'"  Apache, 966 F. 
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Supp. 2d at 1193 (citing Reeves v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 179 (1993) (emphasis in 

original)).  "Persons who do not have a management or official position within an enterprise 

may be liable under §1962(c) if they are 'associated with the enterprise [and] . . . exert 

control over it.'"  Id. (citing Reeves, 507 U.S. at 184-85). 

The 105-page Complaint contains no specific allegations as to the structure of any 

group or entity, the relationship between the groups or entities, or the relationship between 

individuals within a group or entity.  Instead, the only references to an "enterprise" are set 

forth in vague allegations regarding the alleged pattern of racketeering.  See, e.g., 

Complaint ¶ 38 ("RICO Ringleaders conspired to convert the Tribes' into a 'RICO 

Enterprise'"); see also, ¶¶ 53, 65, 174, and 217.  Thus, the Complaint alleges nothing that 

binds the Defendants together, merely generalized and conclusory allegations of predicate 

acts. 

Just as in Apache, no factual allegations establish that the individual Defendants 

participated in the operation or management of the "dictatorial" or "RICO" or 

"Racketeering Enterprise" and that they "function as a continuing unit."  Boyle v. United 

States, 556 U.S. 938 945 (2009); see Apache, 966 F. Supp. 2d at 1194.  And, as in Apache, 

the alleged enterprise "is simply the group of individual defendants accused of engaging in 

racketeering," and Plaintiffs have "thus failed to allege an enterprise distinct from the 

individual defendants."  Apache, 966 F. Supp. 2d at 1194 (quoting Switzer v. Coan, 261 

F.3d 985, 992 (10th Cir. 2001) (internal quotations omitted)).

Plaintiffs' failure to properly plead a cause of action is a basis for dismissal.  

Moreover, the allegations herein are substantially the same as those successfully defeated 
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by Plaintiffs' counsel in Apache.  Because Plaintiffs' counsel knows, or is on notice that, 

the relief Plaintiffs seek is unsupported by facts or existing law, sanctions are warranted. 

B. Pattern of Racketeering Activity

Similarly, the Complaint fails to allege two or more predicate acts that fall within 

the contours of RICO to support the "pattern of racketeering activity" element. 

To satisfy RICO's pattern requirement, a plaintiff must allege not only that the 
defendants had committed two or more predicate acts, but also that the predicates 
themselves amount to, or that they otherwise constitute a threat of, continuing 
racketeering activity.  The term pattern itself requires the showing of a relationship 
between the predicates and of the threat of continuing activity, so that it is continuity 
plus relationship which combines to produce a pattern. . . .  Continuity is both a 
closed- and open-ended concept, referring either to a closed period of repeated 
conduct, or to past conduct that by its nature projects into the future with a threat of 
repetition.  Continuity over a closed period requires a series of related predicates 
extending over a substantial period of time. 

Apache, 966 F. Supp. 2d at 1196 (citations, quotations, alterations omitted) (emph. 

original). 

Again, Plaintiffs' counsel knows the pleading requirements for a RICO suit in 

general, and he has also argued the burden for meeting such requirements in a case almost 

identical to this one.  Yet counsel nevertheless filed the defective Complaint herein. 

V. Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs' Counsel Filed the Complaint for Improper
Purposes.

By signing a complaint, an attorney certifies that to the best of the attorney's 

knowledge, information and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the 

circumstances, that the pleading is not being presented for an improper purpose, "such as 

to harass, cause unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of litigation."  Rule 11.  
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Counsel for Plaintiffs has either (1) failed to conduct a reasonable inquiry; or (2) knowingly 

submitted the pleading for an improper purpose, or both. 

Papers presented for an improper purpose include, but are not limited to, papers 

presented "to harass, cause unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of litigation."  

Fed R. Civ. P. 11(b)(1); In re Kunstler, 914 F.2d 505, 518 (4th Cir. 1990).  Courts may infer 

an improper purpose if confronted with solid evidence of a pleading's frivolousness.  

Hutchinson v. Hahn, No. 05-CV-453-TCK(PJC), 2007 WL 2572224 (N.D. Okla. Sept. 4, 

2007) (citing Townsend v. Holman Consulting Corp., 929 F.2d 1358, 1365 (9th Cir. 1990)); 

see also Kunstler, 914 F.2d at 519 (improper purpose may be inferred when "counsel 

willfully files a baseless complaint").  But even when a paper is not frivolous, sanctions 

may nonetheless be imposed when the paper is submitted for an improper purpose.  

Whitehead v. Food Max of Miss., Inc., 332 F.3d 796, 805 (5th Cir. 2003).  The timing of 

the filing of a complaint can be used to infer an improper purpose.  See, e.g., Kunstler, 914 

F.2d at 519 (complaint filed on the eve of an anniversary of an event concerning prior 

related litigation).  A paper presented without a central and sincere intent to vindicate rights 

in court is improper.  Id. at 518.  If a paper is filed to vindicate rights in court, but has 

another purpose, then the other purpose cannot be pursued in bad faith or be "so excessive 

to eliminate a proper purpose."  Id.  

Courts have found harassment when well-settled law makes clear defendants were 

immune from suit.  See Marley v. Wright, 137 F.R.D. 359, 361, 364 (W.D. Okla. 1991) 

(defendants-judges had absolute judicial immunity).  Filing suit to embarrass a party also 

constitutes harassment under Rule 11.  Whitehead, 332 F.3d at 808-09 (sanctions affirmed 
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where attorney sought and publicized writ for improper purposes – to embarrass the 

defendant and for self-promotion).8 

Similar to Whitehead, the Complaint in this case contains "extremely hyperbolic, 

intemperate, and misleading comments."  Plaintiffs filed the Complaint herein against 

Governor Hamilton the day before the Tribes' 2017 primary election.  Wilkinson then 

publicized the RICO Complaint on the eve of the election to affect the outcome.9  See 

Exhibit C.  Further, Plaintiffs' counsel issued a statement (published on the Tribal Council's 

Facebook page (Exhibit D)) indicating he appreciates the stigmatizing effect of a RICO 

lawsuit and can, as he put it, "enable those on the fence to get off when it turns out that the 

fence has become barbed or electrified."  Id.  Additionally, Wilkinson, prior to the election, 

asserted that one or more defendants would be going to jail. 

These people are going to get federal cases put on them. Criminal cases. RICO 
complaints don't come alone. They never do. You know what they give for being in 
a RICO scheme? Prison. You know what that place smells like? Dust and toilet 
water. That's where they headed, dust and toilet water hell. 

See Exhibit C.  Counsel's self-promoting statement also alleged criminality and, stating, 

"[W]e will all work together to hold responsible the criminals that tried to steal [the] Tribes' 

property. . . . My law firm is the Peoples' law firm."  Exhibit D. 

8 The Complaint herein was filed and publicized on October 2, 2017, yet Plaintiffs did not 
request the issuance of summonses until December 12, 2017. 
9 The filing and publication of the RICO claim may have had a concrete effect on the 
outcome of the tribal election.  Out of 5,000 registered voters only 1,845 voted in the 
election.  Governor Hamilton came in third in the Primary Election by a margin of 13 votes.  
The vote totals for the top three gubernatorial tickets were as follows:  357, 272, and 259. 
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Given the timing of the filing of the Complaint – immediately before a tribal election 

in which Governor Hamilton was a candidate – this Court can and should infer an improper 

purpose.  Kunstler, 914 F.2d at 513.  Further, many of the Complaint's allegations (even if 

true, which they are not) occurred years ago and, accordingly, any purported "harm" alleged 

in the Complaint occurred years ago (beyond RICO's four-year statute of limitation), yet 

Plaintiffs waited until the day before the tribal election to file the Complaint.  Moreover, 

Plaintiffs purposefully delayed service until the Friday before Christmas to make it more 

burdensome for the served Defendants to respond.  See Exhibit D (Counsel stating:  "We 

are serving the Racketeer Ring fake judges and lawyers within the month with the RICO 

federal law suit.  We want to make them a present so they have something to busy 

themselves with over Christmas holidays.").  These circumstances warrant a finding that 

the Complaint was filed for an improper purpose. 

"Civil RICO is an unusually potent weapon – the litigation equivalent of a 

thermonuclear device.  The very pendency of a RICO suit can be stigmatizing and its 

consummation can be costly."  Miranda v. Ponce Fed. Bank, 948 F.2d 41, 44 (2d Cir. 1991).  

Given the timing of the Complaint, the frivolous allegations, the delays and timing in 

service, Governor Hamilton asks the Court to find that the Complaint was filed for the 

improper purposes of harassment, embarrassment and to affect the tribal election and 

sanction Plaintiffs and their counsel accordingly. 

VI. Counsel failed to conduct a reasonable pre-filing factual inquiry. 

Rule 11 requires the signature of an attorney of record on "[e]very pleading, written 

motion, and other paper."  Rule 11(a).  By signing the document and presenting it to the 
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court the attorney certifies that the representations made are not in violation of Rule 11(b).  

This certification is made to the "best of the of the person's knowledge, information, and 

belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances."  Id.  This affirmative 

duty requires an attorney to investigate the facts and law before filing, and "the applicable 

standard is one of reasonableness under the circumstances."  Bus. Guides, Inc. v. Chromatic 

Commc'ns Enters., 498 U.S. 533, 551 (1991).  Under this standard, the attorney "must have 

determined that any papers filed with the court are well grounded in fact [and] legally 

tenable."  Cooter, 496 U.S. at 393.  If, after further investigation, evidentiary support is 

lacking for a party's contention, then the advocacy of the argument should be abandoned.  

Rule 11(b) advisory committee's note (1993).  To put it simply, an attorney must "stop, 

look, and listen" before signing a paper and submitting it to the court.  Adamson, 855 F.2d 

at 673 (citing Lieb v. Topstone Indus., 788 F.2d 151, 157 (3d Cir. 1987)).  "Blind reliance 

on the client is seldom a sufficient inquiry."  Kunstler, 914 F.2d at 514 (quoting S. Leasing 

Partners, Ltd. v. McMullan, 801 F.2d 783, 788 (5th Cir. 1986)). 

Plaintiffs' allegations are largely an amalgamation of different claims that have 

previously been litigated by various parties against various defendants in tribal and state 

courts, administrative bodies, and this Court,10 but this time with a feeble RICO claim 

added to assert federal jurisdiction.  Thus, although not all the Plaintiffs have previously 

participated in litigation against the Defendants named in this litigation,11 the claims they 

10 Exhibit B. 
11 Plaintiff Wilkinson has, however, unsuccessfully pursued similar claims against 
Defendants Hamilton and Hobbs, Straus, Dean & Walker, LLP in tribal court. 
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assert have been considered, either in whole or in part, by various adjudicative bodies.  

Plaintiffs' counsel failed to conduct anything approaching a reasonable inquiry before filing 

the Complaint or, perhaps more damning, ignored information demonstrating that certain 

facts alleged in the Complaint were verifiably false.  No reasonable and competent 

attorney would have filed this RICO action.   

In Kunstler, supra, the district court sanctioned attorneys for failing to make a 

reasonable inquiry that the complaint was supported by fact and warranted by existing law.  

914 F.2d at 513.  The court noted numerous factual errors that " pervade the complaint and 

concern information which either was or should have been known to appellants. The errors 

provide a false foundation for appellants' allegation of a county-wide 'conspiracy,' and are 

central to the complaint."  Id. at 514.  The same can be said of the case at bar. 

Federal Determinations Regarding Tribal Leadership 

The Complaint alleges a "tribal takeover" by defendants and others.  However, the 

Tribal Council – the lead named plaintiff herein – previously recognized that Janice 

Boswell was the Governor of the Tribes, and affirmed the legitimacy of what counsel calls 

the "Imposter Court."  For multiple relevant resolutions, see Exhibits F1-F4.   

The Complaint asserts the Bureau of Indian Affairs ("BIA") recognized the Arrow 

Court as the lawfully seated court, ¶¶ 105-06, but fails to disclose that the Interior Board 

of Indian Appeals ("IBIA") subsequently vacated that decision.  Bighorse. v. S. Plains Reg'l 

Dir., 59 IBIA 1 (July 10, 2014) (Exhibit G4).  In fact, in all of the IBIA decisions (see 

Exhibits G1-G6), the IBIA maintained a consistent position that it must remain neutral so 

internal tribal political disputes can be resolved in tribal – not federal – forums. 
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Additionally, multiple tribal court cases, as well as a Western District case, have 

noted the federal government's acceptance of Governor Hamilton as the Tribes' lawfully- 

seated Governor.  See Cheyenne & Arapaho Tribes v. Wandrie-Harjo, No. CIV-15-262-D, 

2016 WL 2939538, at 2 (W.D. Okla. May 19, 2016) ("[T]here is no dispute that the 

Superintendent of the BIA's Concho Agency in May 2015 approved Governor Hamilton's 

request [] based on the legislative authorization . . . ."). 

Attorney Fees and Embezzlement 

Wilkinson previously unsuccessfully challenged the legal fees paid to Hobbs, 

Straus, Dean and Walker, LLP ("Hobbs, Straus") in tribal court (Wilkinson v. Hamilton, No. 

CIV-2016-139 (Cheyenne Arapaho Trial Court filed Oct. 5, 2016) (the "Tribal Court 139 

Case")), alleging Governor Hamilton paid Hobbs, Straus "unbudgeted" legal fees.  Exhibit 

H.  Wilkinson dismissed that case voluntarily after Hobbs, Straus showed that (1) the Tribal 

Council passed Resolution No. 111806STC-005 (Nov. 18, 2006), granting the Governor 

authority to enter into contracts for legal services; (2) the 2016 tribal budget included a 

budgeted line item for Executive Branch legal fees, and (3) Wilkinson knew the legal fees 

were lawfully budgeted, as shown by her Facebook posts attesting to the same.  See Exhibit 

H (at its Exhibit A).  Of crucial note:  Plaintiffs' counsel also represented Wilkinson in 

the Tribal Court 139 Case. 

HUD Settlement 

The Tribal Court 139 Case also questioned a settlement with the U.S. Department 

of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD"), which Plaintiffs allege occurred without 

Tribal Council or Legislative approval.  However, the settlement was authorized by 
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Legislative Resolution No. 5L-SS-2015-1201-007,12 "A Resolution to Approve a Voluntary 

Compliance Agreement with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development."  

Governor Hamilton's counsel placed Plaintiff Wilkinson and her counsel on notice of the 

resolution in the tribal court case, after which Wilkinson voluntarily dismissed the case.13  

Thus, Wilkinson and her counsel knew before filing the Complaint that this settlement with 

HUD was authorized by the Tribes' Legislature, but alleged otherwise in the Complaint (¶ 

204) ("Defendant Hamilton's agreement to pay back these funds with Tribes' money . . . 

was not approved . . . by the legislature.").  See also Complaint ¶¶ 264(a), 263(b). 

NIGC Settlement 

Similar to the HUD settlement, the Complaint alleges that a settlement entered into 

between the Tribes and the National Indian Gaming Commission ("NIGC") was 

unauthorized.  The settlement followed an investigation by the NIGC into a scheme 

involving a parking lot lease for one of the Tribes' casinos.14 

The NIGC settlement was not, as Plaintiffs allege, an attempt to cover up unlawful 

action.  Rather, the settlement was the result of a lengthy investigation and cooperation 

                                                           
12 Exhibit I.  Because the Legislature approved the HUD settlement and the NIGC 
settlement during Wilkinson's term as Tribal Council Coordinator, Wilkinson is on actual 
notice of the existence of these resolutions.  Constitution, Art. V, § 4(c). 
13 See Exhibit J, Tribal Court 139 Case, Special Appearance and Motion to Dismiss, at 18 
(Cheyenne Arapaho Trial Ct., Oct. 27, 2016) (includes proof of service).  See also Exhibit 
K, Tribal Court 139 Case, Notice of Voluntary Dismissal Without Prejudice, at 18 
(Cheyenne Arapaho Trial Ct., Nov. 18, 2016). 
14 Plaintiffs have also sued individuals who were involved in and responsible for the parking 
lot scheme.  The Tribes, through the Executive Branch, filed suit to prosecute the Clinton 
Land Holdings matter before the instant case was filed.  Cheyenne & Arapaho Tribes v. 
Universal Entm't Grp., CIV-2017-0074 (Cheyenne Arapaho Trial Ct. filed Sept. 28, 2017). 
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between the Tribes and the NIGC.  Both the NIGC and Tribes released press statements 

publicizing the matter.  See Exhibit L.  Additionally, the Legislature approved the 

settlement by enacting Legislative Resolution No.  6L-SS-2017-0405-01, "A Resolution to 

Approve a Settlement Agreement with the National Indian Gaming Commission," (April 

5, 2017) (Exhibits M and N), which credits Governor Hamilton for stopping the parking 

lot scam.  See Exhibit N.  Therefore, any allegation (Complaint ¶ 192) that Governor 

Hamilton entered the settlement without proper authority is flatly contradicted by the facts. 

Casino Revenues 

Plaintiffs allege that casino revenues have declined and that as much as $32 million 

is unaccounted for the year 2016.  Nothing could be further from the truth.  Although 

accounting data is not readily available for years prior to 2013, the gaming facilities have 

distributed the following amounts to the Tribes over the last few years: 

2013 $   28,953,442.95  
2014 $   41,001,756.56  
2015 $   42,842,909.55  
2016 $   36,472,173.95  
2017* $   47,000,000.00 + 
 

Thus, gaming revenue distributions increased dramatically in 2014, the first year of 

Governor Hamilton's term.  They declined slightly in 2016 because the enterprises were 

paying off debts for the construction of two travel plazas,15 but will reach record levels for 

2017.  This demonstrable increase occurred thanks to Governor Hamilton's aggressive cost-

                                                           
15 The debts predated Hamilton's administration but were paid off early and at lower interest 
rates to save substantial amounts of money and so the debt did not impact casino revenues 
for years to come. 
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cutting, including renegotiating contracts with gaming vendors for more favorable terms.  

These numbers are readily available to tribal members and have been discussed in various 

public forums, including the Tribes' Legislature, on numerous occasions. 

Respect Gymnasium 

Wilkinson previously challenged the RESpECT Gymnasium construction project in 

tribal court.  The Tribal Council set policy that the Tribes should pursue a gymnasium 

project (Exhibit O1), and the Legislature authorized the associated contracts and payments 

(Exhibits O2 and O3).  Governor Hamilton then properly entered contracts (Constitution, 

Art. VII, § 4(b)), and construction began.  Wilkinson sued, and the tribal court found that 

the contracts were valid under tribal law and authorized Governor Hamilton to issue 

payments for the construction project.  Wilkinson v. Hamilton, CIV-2016-138, Order 

(Cheyenne Arapaho Trial Ct. Oct. 28, 2016) (Exhibit P).  On appeal, the Tribes' Supreme 

Court held that Plaintiff Wilkinson had no standing to sue to enjoin the construction project, 

either in her official capacity as Tribal Council Coordinator or in her individual capacity as 

a tribal member, and dismissed the case.  Wilkinson, No. SC-2016-03  (Exhibit E). 

Plaintiffs' Failure to Disclose Litigation History Constitutes Bad Faith 

Given that most of the issues raised in the Complaint have been litigated in other 

forums, Stagner v. Pitts, 7 F.3d 1045 (10th Cir. 1993) (unpublished table decision) (cited 

with approval, Friedlob v. Trs. of Alpine Mut. Fund Trust, 905 F. Supp. 843, 859 (D. Colo. 

1995)) is instructive.  In Stagner, the 10th Circuit affirmed the imposition of sanctions 

finding a lack of a pattern of racketeering activity, and concluding that "this is but an 

unsuccessful effort to dress a garden-variety state fraud and deceit case in RICO clothing."  
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Id.  The court further found that plaintiffs' RICO claim was frivolous and nothing more 

than "a continuing and blatant attempt to collaterally attack and avoid the [state court's] 

rulings . . . and to harass the defendants[.]"  Id. at 6.  The court specifically found that 

plaintiffs' counsel acted in bad faith in filing the complaint and omitting the litigation 

history of the subject matter of the claim.  Id.  The 10th Circuit noted the maxim that the 

courts have a duty to protect the public from frivolous litigation.  Id. at 3. 

Just as in Stagner, Plaintiffs seek to resurrect dead litigation by dressing it in federal 

RICO clothing, and this is a "blatant attempt to collaterally attack and avoid" decisions of 

the tribal court and the BIA.  Plaintiffs and their counsel do not cite the multiple tribal 

resolutions approving the conduct alleged herein to be unapproved, or the tribal court and 

other decisions ruling in favor of Governor Hamilton and against Wilkinson or otherwise 

disposing of the issues alleged in the Complaint. 

Plaintiffs further omit numerous tribal business decisions that benefitted them 

personally and were carried out by Governor Hamilton in the exact same manner as the 

HUD settlement and the NIGC settlement.  Most notable is the settlement between the 

Tribes and the United States in Nez Perce, et. al. v. Jewell, No. 06-cv-2239-TFH, Joint 

Stipulation of Claims (Doc. 279) (D.D.C. filed Mar. 1, 2017) and Cheyenne & Arapaho 

Tribes v. United States, No. 12-357 L, Joint Stipulation of Dismissal (Doc. 48) (Fed. Cl. 

filed Mar. 9, 2017).  On December 29, 2016, the Cheyenne and Arapaho Legislature 

approved Resolution No. 6L-SS-2016-1229-01 (Exhibit Q), which provided as follows: 

that the Legislature authorizes Governor Eddie Hamilton, with the assistance of 
Hobbs, Straus, Dean & Walker, LLP, as legal counsel; to take any and all action 
necessary to finalize negotiations with the United States regarding the final wording, 
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form, and scope of the Joint Stipulation of Settlement, including the acceptance, 
revision, or withdrawal of any proposed changes, and to execute and deliver and 
take all other necessary steps regarding the Joint Stipulation of Settlement (as it may 
be revised) and all other necessary documents and pleadings to settle the Tribes' 
claims in the abovementioned case on behalf of the Tribes and to bind the Tribes, 
without further Legislative action. 

Thereafter, the Tribes' Legislature passed Resolution No. 6L-RS-2017-05-003, 

which provided that the funds the Tribes received in the Nez Perce settlement – $8,396,000 

 were to be distributed to tribal members in the form of a per capita payment.  Exhibit 

R.  All of the named Plaintiffs received these per capita payments solely because 

Governor Hamilton, in his official capacity, settled the litigation with the United States.  

Plaintiffs received these payments through executive and legislative processes identical in 

form to those for the HUD settlement and NIGC settlement.  Interestingly, Plaintiffs do 

not allege wrongdoing in this instance, perhaps because they each received direct financial 

benefit.16  These facts and the other reasons discussed herein illustrate the frivolousness of 

this suit, and the bad faith of both the Plaintiffs and their counsel. 

This case is analogous to Grynberg v. Ivanhoe Energy, Inc., which also dealt with 

sanctions in a civil RICO suit.  663 F. Supp. 2d 1022 (D. Colo. 2009).  The plaintiffs made 

bribery and conspiracy claims against the president and CEO of an energy company.  Id. at 

1023.  The court in imposing sanctions found no valid argument that the plaintiffs had 

"adequate evidentiary support for the specific allegations."  Id. at 1025. 

                                                           
16 Plaintiffs label Governor Hamilton a "ringleader" in a RICO conspiracy but have failed 
to disclose to the court financial benefits Plaintiffs received as a direct result of his actions. 
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The allegations in Plaintiffs' Complaint lack any substance – a remarkable feat for 

a 105-page document.  The Complaint contains conclusory allegations, utilizes some form 

of the word "unlawful" over 100 times, and vaguely references bribery, extortion, and 

conspiracy throughout.  Those statements are made in relation to the defendants generally 

or to unspecified "non-Tribal outsiders" and "corruptible members of the Tribes" with no 

detail or particularity.  Moreover, beside the conclusory criminal actions and unspecified 

perpetrators, Plaintiffs' counsel routinely asserts the motives of the unspecified 

perpetrators, which are also conclusory in nature.  See, e.g., Complaint ¶ 65.  Yet there is 

no scintilla of detail regarding these alleged motives.  As with the rest of the Complaint's 

allegations, these are conclusory and devoid of detail. 

Other errors are littered throughout the Complaint and are instructive as 

demonstrations of the lack of effort Plaintiffs and their counsel expended to verify the facts 

alleged.  A list of these errors is attached hereto as Exhibit S.  

Additionally, counsel's extra-judicial statements contradict the claims made in the 

Complaint.  For example, counsel stated on social media an intent to dismiss Defendant 

Klint Cowan from the Complaint for arguing against his RICO co-defendants in a tribal 

election case before the "Imposter Court."  Exhibit D.  The "Imposter Court" ruled against 

some of defendants in this case, so it is unclear what evidence exists to conclude the 

"Imposter Court" and the other defendants are associated for some common purpose. 

Exhibit T.  Counsel holds himself out as experienced in Indian Law.  See Exhibit U.  The 

fact that he is "professionally capable of assimilating and weighing the facts" regarding the 

circumstances alleged make the "factual inaccuracies in the complaint . . . even more 
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egregious."  See Kunstler, 914 F.2d at 514 (in light of sanctioned attorney's intimate 

knowledge of the subject areas comprising the facts of the case, their factual inaccuracies 

were "even more egregious.") 

VI. Counsel's Refusal to Dismiss the Complaint Constitutes an Unreasonable 
Multiplication of the Proceedings Under 28 U.S.C. §1927. 

Under 28 U.S.C. Section 1927, "[a]ny attorney . . . who so multiplies the 

proceedings in any case unreasonably and vexatiously may be required by the court to 

satisfy personally the excess costs, expenses, and attorneys' fees reasonably incurred 

because of such conduct."  The 10th Circuit has elaborated on the type of conduct that is 

sanctionable under Section 1927:  "[A]ny conduct that viewed objectively, manifests either 

intentional or reckless disregard of the attorney's duties to the court is sanctionable."  

Hamilton v. Boise Cascade Express, 519 F.3d 1197, 1202 (10th Cir. 2008) (quotation 

omitted).  A finding of bad faith is not required (Baca v. Berry, 806 F.3d 1262, 1268 (10th 

Cir. 2015); see also Braley v. Campbell, 832 F.2d 1504, 1512 (10th Cir. 1987)); however, 

a finding of bad faith is a sufficient basis for finding a §1927 violation.  Dreiling v. Peugeot 

Motors of Am., Inc., 768 F.2d 1159, 1165 (10th Cir. 1985) ("An attorney's actions are 

considered vexatious and unreasonable under §1927 if the attorney acted in bad faith.").  

"[T]here must be a causal connection between the objectionable conduct of counsel and 

multiplication of proceedings, such that the conduct resulted in proceedings that would not 

have been conducted otherwise."  Hamilton, 519 F.3d at 1202 (citing Peterson v. BMI 

Refractories, 124 F.3d 1386 (11th Cir. 1997); Lee v. First Lenders Ins. Servs. Inc., 236 

F.3d 443, 445 (8th Cir. 2001)). 
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Sanctions are appropriate "when counsel repeatedly refers to facts in the record that 

simply are not there."  Lewis v. Circuit City Stores, Inc., 500 F.3d 1140, 1153 (10th Cir. 

2007) (citing Herzfeld & Stern v. Blair, 769 F.2d 645, 647 (10th Cir. 1985)).  Sanctions are 

necessary when conduct adds grievously to the frivolous nature of a case, and includes an 

attorney being "cavalier in regard to his approach . . . or bent upon misleading the court."  

Herzfeld, 769 F.2d at 647.  Sanctions are appropriate under §1927 when an attorney 

"intentionally acts without a plausible basis," "when the entire course of proceedings was 

unwarranted," or "when certain discovery is substantially unjustified and interposed for the 

improper purposes of harassment, unnecessary delay and to increase the costs of the 

litigation."  Miera v. Dairyland Ins. Co., 143 F.3d 1337, 1342 (10th Cir. 1998) (internal 

citations omitted).   

[S]anctions are not reserved for the worst offenders.  This is particularly true of 
sanctions under §1927, which  . . . are levied to compensate the victims of dilatory 
practices, not as a means of punishment. For this reason, a protracted course of 
vexatious conduct is unnecessary. . . . Where, "pure heart" notwithstanding, an 
attorney's momentarily "empty head" results in an objectively vexatious and 
unreasonable multiplication of proceedings at expense to his opponent, the court 
may hold the attorney personally responsible. 

Hamilton, 519 F.3d at 1203 (citing Braley, 832 F.2d at 1504).  Although sanctions are 

generally not imposed for filing the initial complaint, which is the initiation (as opposed to 

the multiplication) of proceedings, courts may nonetheless sanction when counsel attempts 

to preserve and advance frivolous claims in the complaint.  Steinert v. Winn Grp., Inc., 440 

F.3d 1214, 1225-26 (10th Cir. 2006).  Indeed, "an attorney's inaction in bad faith may 

implicate penalties under 28 U.S.C. §1927."  Gaiardo, 835 F.2d at 485 (emphasis added).  

Finally, an imposition of sanctions under Rule 11 does not foreclose sanctions under §1927.  
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See, e.g., Roth v. Green, 466 F.3d 1179, 1190 (10th Cir. 2006) (concluding that the district 

court did not abuse its discretion in concluding violations of both Rule 11 and § 1927). 

Sanctions are appropriate under §1927 against Plaintiffs' counsel.  Counsel was 

properly notified that the claims against Governor Hamilton are meritless and run afoul of 

Rule 11.  Counsel's subsequent failure to dismiss the Complaint as to Governor Hamilton 

– i.e., counsel's bad faith inaction – has thus unreasonably and vexatiously multiplied these

proceedings and warrants sanctions under §1927. 

VII. Plaintiffs' Conduct Warrants Sanctions Via the Court's Inherent
Authority

"[I]t is firmly established that the power to punish for contempts is inherent in all 

courts."  Chambers v. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 44 (1991).  The inherent power to sanction 

exists separate and apart from statute and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  Id. at 46.  

Indeed, even when "procedural rules exist which sanction the same conduct," the inherent 

authority of the court can be invoked.  Id. at 49.  And the ability to sanction is not limited 

to conduct occurring within the courtroom.  Id. at 44.  Nor is the jurisdiction of the court 

to sanction limited to when a case is before the court.  Cooter, 496 U.S. at 395-96. 

Generally, a court must first "apply rules and statutes containing sanctioning 

provisions to discrete occurrence" before invoking its inherent power to sanction.  See 

Farmer v. Banco Popular of N. Am., 791 F.3d 1246, 1257 (10th Cir. 2015).  However, after 

a certain point, all of a litigant's conduct is deemed sanctionable.  Id. 

Although inherent powers must be exercised with restraint and discretion, "in 

narrowly defined circumstances federal courts have inherent power to assess attorney's fees 
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against counsel."  Roadway Express, Inc. v. Piper, 447 U.S. 752, 764-65 (1980).  Attorney's 

fees may be assessed when a case is filed in bad faith and for bad faith conduct during 

litigation.  Id. at 766 (emphasis added).  The court may assess attorney's fees, through its 

inherent authority, when a party acts in "bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive 

reasons."  Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co. v. Wilderness Soc'y, 421 U.S. 240, 258-59 (1975) 

(quoting F. D. Rich Co. v. U.S. for Use of Indus. Lumber Co., 417 U.S. 116, 129 (1974) 

(internal quotation marks omitted)).  But "[a] district court's inherent power to sanction 

reaches beyond the multiplication of court proceedings and authorizes sanctions for wide-

ranging conduct constituting an abuse of process."  Farmer, 791 F.3d at 1257 (citing 

Chambers, 501 U.S. at 57). 

Finally, an award of attorney's fees must be "compensatory rather than punitive in 

nature.  Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Haeger, 137 S. Ct. 1178, 1186-87 (2017) (citing 

Mine Workers v. Bagwell, 512 U.S. 821, 826-30 (1994)).  A causal link must exist between 

the offending party's bad faith conduct and the costs incurred by the innocent party.  Id. 

The party "may recover only the portion of his fees that he would not have paid but for the 

misconduct."  Id. at 1187 (quoting Fox v. Vice, 563 U.S. 826, 836 (2011)). 

Here, Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs' counsel filed this action and pursued it in bad faith. 

This is demonstrated by the Rule 11 and §1927 violations mentioned above. However, 

§1927 only applies to attorneys, not parties.  And only attorneys and unrepresented parties

can violate Rule 11.17  Because Rule 11 may not – and §1927 does not – adequately address 

17 The Court may impose sanctions on "any attorney, law firm, or party that violated the 
rule or is responsible for the violation."  Fed R. Civ. P. 11(c)(1) (emphasis added). 
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the bad faith conduct of Plaintiffs – and in particular Wilkinson – in this case, the Court 

may and should use its inherent authority to sanction Plaintiffs for their bad faith conduct. 

CONCLUSION 

Plaintiffs and counsel filed the 105-page Complaint the day before a tribal election, 

asserting multiple RICO violations.  Wilkinson publicized the Complaint on the eve of the 

election.  Thus, the Complaint was clearly filed for an improper purpose, but it is also 

unsupported by either law or fact.  Counsel knew, or had reason to know, that some of the 

Complaint's allegations were verifiably false, and he knew firsthand the Complaint did not 

satisfy the stringent pleading requirements for a RICO Complaint.  Yet despite all this, 

counsel filed the Complaint anyway. 

A reasonable and competent attorney would not have filed this lawsuit.  The factual 

and legal flaws, the reasons and the motivations for Counsel's filing of the Complaint all 

demonstrate an abandonment of Plaintiff's counsel's legal and professional obligations 

under Rule 11 and a blatant display of bad faith warranting the imposition of sanctions 

against him.  Because Wilkinson and other Plaintiffs also had reason to know the 

Complaint's allegations were verifiably false, they should be sanctioned as well. 

WHEREFORE, Governor Hamilton requests the Court impose sanctions on counsel 

and Plaintiffs in such form and amount to deter future recurrences of sanctionable conduct, 

to limit counsel and Plaintiffs' ability to file papers in this Court without prior approval, 

and to compensate Governor Hamilton for the costs of defense incurred to date, as well as 

all additional relief, both at law and in equity, to which he is entitled. 
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William R. Norman, OBA #14919 
wnorman@hobbsstraus.com 
K. Kirke Kickingbird, OBA #5003
kkickingbird@hobbsstraus.com
Michael D. McMahan, OBA #17317
mmcmahan@hobbsstraus.com
W. Gregory Guedel, OBA #33317
gguedel@hobbsstraus.com
Randi Dawn Gardner Hardin, OBA #32416
rhardin@hobbsstraus.com
101 Park Avenue, Suite 700
Oklahoma City, OK  73102
Telephone: (405) 602-9425.
Facsimile: (405) 602-9426

ATTORNEYS FOR EDDIE HAMILTON 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

This is to certify that on December 28, 2017, a true and correct copy of the within and 
foregoing was served via the Court's ECF system upon the following: 

Rick Dane Moore 
Shanda Adams 
Post Office Box 721775 Norman, 
Oklahoma 73073 

INFCABuffalo@gmail.com 
adamsshanda@gmail.com 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS 
/s/ Michael D. McMahan
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